IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Nov 21 2022 04:26PM EST Transaction ID 68415397

JUSTICE HIGHWALL MINING, INC., DYNAMIC ENERGY, INC., and BLUESTONE INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Defendants/Petitioners,

v. Docket No.: 22-ICA-39

RICKY M. VARNEY,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Appeal from the Twenty-Seventh Judicial Circuit Honorable Micheal M. Cochrane Civil Action No. 18-C-41

Respectfully Submitted By:

Ronald H. Hatfield, Jr. (WVSB No. 8552) 101 Main Street West White Sulphur Springs, WV 24986 (540) 613-1460 ron.hatfield@bluestone-coal.com Counsel for Defendants/Petitioners

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred by refusing to grant judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Petitioners, pursuant to Rule 50 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, when there was no legally sufficient evidentiary basis developed at trial upon which a jury could find in favor of the Plaintiff on his claim of wrongful discharge.
- 2. The Circuit Court erred by refusing to award a new trial, pursuant to Rule 59 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, when the verdict was against the clear weight of the evidence.
- 3. The Circuit Court erred by refusing to award a new trial, pursuant to Rule 59 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, when the Petitioners were prejudiced at trial by opposing counsel's repeated references to hearsay.
- 4. The Circuit Court erred by refusing to award a new trial, pursuant to Rule 59 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, when the jury was not instructed properly on the burden of proof for an award of attorney fees.
- 5. The Circuit Court erred by refusing to strike the award of attorney fees in its entirety, pursuant to Rules 52(b) and 59(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, when the jury was not instructed properly on the burden of proof for an award of attorney fees.
- 6. The Circuit Court erred by awarding prejudgment interest in excess of the statutorily mandated minimum of 4 percent established by West Virginia Code Section 56-6-31.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an employment case wherein judgment has been entered against the Petitioners, Justice Highwall Mining, Inc., Dynamic Energy, Inc., and Bluestone Industries, Inc.,

finding that the Petitioners wrongfully terminated Ricky M. Varney ("Varney") from employment in violation of substantial public policy.

Varney filed his Complaint alleging in the sole count that he suffered an unlawful retaliatory discharge in contravention of substantial public policies of the State of West Virginia. The public policy upon which Varney relies purportedly exists in the provisions of West Virginia Code Section 22A-2-71, which states that "[n]o miner shall be required to operate unsafe equipment," and West Virginia Code Section 22A-2-71a, which states that "[a]ny miner has the right to refuse to work in an area or under conditions which he believes to be unsafe." Varney admitted during his trial testimony that he never refused to work, so Section 22A-2-71a cannot provide a basis for his claim. Furthermore, Varney was not an equipment operator, so he was never required to operate any unsafe equipment. Rather, Varney testified that when he complained about unsafe repairs to equipment, the Petitioners provided the necessary parts for safe repairs. Varney even admitted that he never felt his job was in danger for bringing these issues to his supervisor's attention.

Petitioners moved the Circuit Court for judgment as a matter of law at the close of all the evidence and prior to submission of the case to the jury based on the principles set forth in <u>Thomas Memorial Hosp. Assoc. v. Nutter</u>, 238 W.Va. 375, 795 S.E.2d 530 (2016), i.e. there was insufficient evidence to establish liability against the Petitioners in this matter. The Circuit Court denied the motion and submitted the case to the jury, which returned a verdict in favor of Varney. Petitioners then renewed the motion pursuant to Rule 50(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, and requested a new trial, all of which was denied.

Petitioners Justice Highwall Mining, Inc., Dynamic Energy, Inc., and Bluestone Industries, Inc. respectfully request that this Court reverse the judgment of the Circuit Court, and remand for proceedings consistent with the provisions of Rules 50, 52, and 59 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evidence at trial was insufficient to prove that Varney was fired in contravention of any right or public policy identified in his Complaint. Accordingly, there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis upon which a jury could find in favor of Varney on his claim of wrongful discharge, and it was error for the Circuit Court to refuse judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Petitioners.

Also, the Circuit Court erred by refusing to award a new trial when the verdict was against the clear weight of the evidence. Indeed, the clear weight of the evidence proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Varney would have been discharged if he had never raised any safety concerns, because he violated the attendance policy established by his union that provides just cause for termination. The Petitioners also are entitled to a new trial in this matter because the Petitioners were prejudiced at trial by opposing counsel's repeated references to hearsay, and the jury was not instructed properly on the burden of proof for an award of attorney fees.

The Circuit Court's Orders addressed herein ignore legal precedent established by the West Virginia Supreme Court in the field of employment law, and violate principles of fairness concerning the burden of proof and awards of damages and interest in employment law matters, and this Court should review the issues to ensure that an employer's personnel management decisions cannot be challenged unless a substantial public policy has, in fact, been jeopardized.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners request oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure, as this appeal involves multiple questions and issues of fundamental public importance; and Petitioners further request that this Court issue a full opinion to consolidate various legal principles underlying this appeal, and to provide guidance to the Circuit Courts with regard to the burden of proof and awards of damages and interest in employment law matters.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"The appellate standard of review for an order granting or denying a renewed motion for a judgment as a matter of law after trial pursuant to Rule 50(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure is *de novo*." Syl. Pt. 1, Fredeking v. Tyler, 224 W.Va. 1, 680 S.E.2d 16 (2009).

"The decision to grant or deny a new trial rests within the sound discretion of the trial court" and such decision will be reversed only upon a clear abuse of that discretion. <u>In re State Public Bldg. Asbestos Litigation</u>, 454 S.E.2d 413, 426 (W.Va. 1994) (Cleckley, J., concurring). The West Virginia Supreme Court "is more disposed to affirm the action of a trial court in setting aside a verdict and granting a new trial than when such action results in a final judgment denying a new trial." <u>Id.</u> at Syl. Pt. 3.

"The standard of review applicable to an appeal from a motion to alter or amend a judgment, made pursuant to W.Va. R. Civ. P. 59(e), is the same standard that would apply to the underlying judgment upon which the motion is based and from which the appeal to this Court is filed." Syl. Pt. 1, Wickland v. American Travellers Life Insurance Co., 204 W.Va. 430, 513 S.E.2d 657 (1998). "[T]he question of whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law, and the review is *de novo*." Syl. Pt. 12, CSX Transp., Inc. v. Smith, 729 S.E.2d 151 (W.Va. 2012).

Finally, "[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law ... involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, <u>Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.</u>, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

II. The Circuit Court erred by refusing to grant judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Petitioners, pursuant to Rule 50 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, when there was no legally sufficient evidentiary basis developed at trial upon which a jury could find in favor of the Plaintiff on his claim of wrongful discharge.

Pursuant to Rule 50(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, after "a party has been fully heard on an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find for that party on that issue, the court may determine the issue against that party and may grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law against that party." Petitioners moved the Circuit Court for judgment as a matter of law at the close of all the evidence and prior to submission of the case to the jury based on the principles set forth in Thomas Memorial Hosp. Assoc. v. Nutter, 795 S.E.2d 530 (W.Va. 2016), i.e. there was insufficient evidence to establish liability against the Petitioners in this matter. The Circuit Court denied the motion and submitted the case to the jury, which returned a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff. Petitioners then renewed the motion pursuant to Rule 50(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, which also was denied. (J.A. 0680).

Varney filed this Complaint alleging in the sole count that he suffered an "unlawful retaliatory discharge in contravention of substantial public policies of the State of West Virginia." Complaint at ¶39. The public policy upon which Varney relies purportedly exists in the provisions of West Virginia Code Section 22A-2-71, which states that "[n]o miner shall be required to operate unsafe equipment," and West Virginia Code Section 22A-2-71a, which states that "[a]ny miner has the right to refuse to work in an area or under conditions which he believes to be unsafe." See Complaint at ¶33-34. Varney admitted during his trial testimony that he never refused to work,

¹ It is important to note that Varney omitted from his Complaint the language in this code section that refers to a procedure established by the Board of Coal Mine Health and Safety "for resolving disputes arising out of the refusal by a miner to operate such alleged unsafe equipment," which Varney admittedly did not pursue. <u>See</u> W.Va. C.S.R. § 36-8-1 *et seq*.

² Both of these statutes are found in an article of the West Virginia Code that is designated to apply to underground mining operations, and Varney's place of employment at Coal Mountain was <u>not</u> an underground mining operation.

see October 25, 2021 Trial Transcript at 198-99 (J.A. 0206-07), so Section 22A-2-71a cannot provide a basis for his claim. Furthermore, Varney was not an equipment operator, so he was never required to operate any unsafe equipment. Rather, Varney testified that when he complained about unsafe repairs to equipment, the Petitioners provided the necessary parts for safe repairs. (J.A. 0178-79). Varney even admitted that he never felt his job was in danger for bringing these issues to his supervisor's attention. (J.A. 0187-88).

To succeed on his claim for retaliatory discharge, Varney must prove that "the employer's motivation for the discharge [was] to contravene some substantial public policy principle." Syl. Pt. 1, <u>Harless v. First Nat. Bank in Fairmont</u>, 246 S.E.2d 270 (W.Va. 1978). However, much like our Supreme Court found in <u>Nutter</u>, there simply is "no evidence to support the jury's conclusion that the [Petitioners] wrongfully discharged [Varney] in order to jeopardize or undermine a specific public policy." <u>Nutter</u>, 795 S.E.2d at 535. There are

four factors courts should weigh to determine whether an employee has successfully presented a claim of relief for wrongful discharge in contravention of substantial public policy: 1) That a clear public policy existed and was manifested in a state or federal constitution, statute or administrative regulation, or in the common law (the clarity element); 2) That dismissing employees under circumstances like those involved in the plaintiff's dismissal would jeopardize the public policy (the jeopardy element); 3) The plaintiff's dismissal was motivated by conduct related to the public policy (the causation element); 4) The employer lacked overriding legitimate business justification for the dismissal (the overriding justification element).

Under this test, a plaintiff cannot simply cite a source of public policy and then make a bald allegation that the policy might somehow have been violated. There must be some elaboration upon the employer's act jeopardizing public policy and its nexus to the plaintiff's discharge. The mere citation of a statutory provision is not sufficient to state a cause of action for retaliatory discharge without a showing that the discharge violated the public policy that the cited provision clearly mandates.

<u>Id</u>. at 541 (internal quotations and citations omitted). The goal of this analysis "is to ensure that an employer's personnel management decisions will not be challenged unless a public policy has, in fact, been jeopardized." <u>Id</u>.

Varney did not produce any evidence at trial "specifically demonstrating whether and how a public policy was being broken or undermined by the [Petitioners'] actions." <u>Id.</u> at 543. He discussed interactions, and perhaps disagreements, between himself and his supervisor, but ultimately the testimony revealed that he was not *required* to operate unsafe equipment, make unsafe repairs, or work under unsafe conditions. (J.A. 0183-87). In fact, Varney never felt that his job was in danger until he missed two consecutive days of scheduled work, without notice and without proven illness, which is grounds for termination under the union contract. <u>See</u> October 26, 2021 Trial Transcript at 124-26 (J.A. 0359-61).

In Nutter, the plaintiff was a registered nurse who was hired by the defendant hospital in August 2008. Six months later, the plaintiff was placed on an improvement period due to time management issues and disorganization. 795 S.E.2d at 536. The plaintiff successfully completed her improvement period, but in November 2009 she was accused of charting fraud and her employment was terminated. Id. at 537-38. The plaintiff thereafter filed a complaint against defendant hospital alleging that the firing was a "retaliatory discharge" in contravention of substantial public policy. A jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff. Id. at 538. The circuit court denied defendant hospital's motion for judgment as a matter of law, and the defendant appealed. Id. at 539.

Our Supreme Court recognized that the employer's "overall contention is that, as a matter of law, the plaintiff failed to produce sufficient evidence to support the jury's . . . verdict." <u>Id</u>. Specifically, the employer argued that "the plaintiff failed to prove the elements of a cause of

action for wrongful discharge" because "there was no evidence supporting the plaintiff's allegation that the hospital violated the federal regulations quoted by the judge as public policy." <u>Id.</u> at 539-40. The same is true in this case, i.e. there is no evidence supporting Plaintiff Varney's allegation that the Petitioners violated the West Virginia Code provisions adopted by this Court as public policy.

The plaintiff in Nutter, an at-will employee like Plaintiff Varney in this case, "testified that she complained about numerous issues . . . during her employment," and "the circuit court instructed the jury on six federal regulations as sources of substantial public policy." Id. at 540. The law in West Virginia recognizes that an employer has an absolute right to discharge an at-will employee. However, that general rule is "tempered by the principle that where the employer's motivation for the discharge is to contravene some substantial public policy principle, then the employer may be liable to the employee for damages occasioned by this discharge." Id. at 540-41. Our Supreme Court scoured the eight-day trial transcript, and noted that the "record [was] scattered with questions and statements that suggest Thomas Memorial's actions might have involved" violations of public policy, id. at 541-42 (emphasis in original), but ultimately concluded that the record was void of "any evidence by which a jury could actually find that these "might have' events violated a specific policy." <u>Id</u>. at 542 (emphasis in original). The Court explained that it took "the plaintiff's testimony that she complained about these issues as true, and [accepted] as correct the inference that these complaints were known to the hospital," but still found "no evidence specifically demonstrating whether and how a public policy was being broken or undermined by the hospital's actions." <u>Id.</u> at 542-43; see also id. at Syl. Pt. 3. Finally, the Court "scrutinized the parties' briefs, seeking specific links to say what evidence supports a breach of each regulation cited" and found none. Accordingly, there was "no legally sufficient evidentiary

basis upon which a jury could find in favor of the plaintiff on her claim of wrongful discharge. The circuit court should have granted the defendant hospital's motion for judgment as a matter of law on the wrongful discharge claim, and it erred when it failed to do so." <u>Id.</u> at 544.

Although this Court also must take Varney's testimony that he complained about various issues as true, and accept as correct the inference that these complaints were known to the Petitioners, the defense is even stronger here. Whereas the Court in Nutter dealt with "might have" evidence, the trial testimony in this case "did not" support a breach of either code provision relied upon by Varney. Indeed, Varney admitted that he did not refuse to work, and the Petitioners did not require him to operate unsafe equipment or make unsafe repairs. (J.A. 0206-07; 0178-79). There were, at worst, episodes of disagreement, but Varney was never required to perform any activity that violated the public policy that the cited provisions clearly mandate. See Nutter, 795 S.E.2d at 541.

Varney is not a whistleblower. He simply complained to his boss about some things that he did not agree with, and if he did not like what his supervisor had to say, he had other avenues to seek a remedy; but the evidence proved that was not necessary. The evidence at trial was insufficient to prove that Varney was fired in contravention of any right or public policy identified in his Complaint. Accordingly, there is "no legally sufficient evidentiary basis upon which a jury could find in favor of the plaintiff on [his] claim of wrongful discharge," and it was error for the Circuit Court to refuse judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Petitioners. See Nutter, 795 S.E.2d at 544.

III. The Circuit Court abused its discretion by refusing to award a new trial, pursuant to Rule 59 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, when the verdict was against the clear weight of the evidence.

"The main function of a motion for a new trial is to give the trial court an opportunity to correct errors in the proceedings before it without subjecting the parties to the expense and the inconvenience of prosecuting a proceeding in review." State v. Cruikshank, 76 S.E.2d 744, 748 (W.Va. 1953). The trial court should set aside a verdict and grant a new trial when "the verdict is against the clear weight of the evidence . . . or will result in a miscarriage of justice." Syl. Pt. 3, In re State Public Bldg. Asbestos Litigation, 454 S.E.2d 413 (W.Va. 1994). "Under Rule 59, the trial judge has the authority to weigh the evidence as if he or she were a member of the jury" and it is within the trial court's discretion to "set aside the verdict even though there is substantial evidence to support it." Id. at 419. The trial court is "not required to take that view of the evidence most favorable to the verdict-winner," id., and a new trial is proper when "it is reasonably clear that prejudicial error has crept into the record or that substantial justice has not been done." Id. at 418. "A trial judge is not merely a referee but is vested with discretion in supervising verdicts and preventing miscarriages of justice, with the power and duty to set a jury verdict aside and award a new trial if it is plainly wrong even if it is supported by some evidence." Id. at 419.

Under West Virginia law,

[o]nce the plaintiff in an action for wrongful discharge based upon the contravention of a substantial public policy has established the existence of such policy and established by a preponderance of the evidence that an employment discharge was motivated by an unlawful factor contravening that policy, liability will then be imposed on a defendant unless the defendant proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the same result would have occurred even in the absence of the unlawful motive.

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