IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Jan 06 2023 06:19PM EST Transaction ID 68823704

JUSTICE HIGHWALL MINING, INC., DYNAMIC ENERGY, INC., and BLUESTONE INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Defendants/Petitioners,

v.

Docket No.: 22-ICA-39

RICKY M. VARNEY,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the Twenty-Seventh Judicial Circuit Honorable Micheal M. Cochrane Civil Action No. 18-C-41

Respectfully Submitted By:

Samuel B. Petsonk, Esq. (WVSB 12418) 417 Main Street East Oak Hill, WV 25901 (304) 712-9858 sam@petsonk.com

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

C. The Petitioners Were Not Entitled to Judgment as a Matter of Law Because Overwhelming and Often Undisputed Evidence Established That Mr. Varney Made Several Safety Complaints to His Employers and That His Employers Attempted to Conceal an Improper Motive for the Discharge.

Petitioners first make three representations about the factual record they contend entitled them to judgment as a matter of law. None of these three factual assertions are consistent with the evidence presented at trial. First, Petitioners contend Mr. Varney testified he never refused to work. (Pet'rs Br. at 6.) However, reference to the trial transcript cited by Petitioners actually refutes their assertion. The full testimony of Mr. Varney in the citation provided by Petitioners is as follows:

- Q I apologize. I do just kind of want to back up to these safety complaints that you made. Did you ever flat out refuse to work because of any of these complaints that you made?
- A Not to work. I refused to do a particular job because I didn't have anything to do [it] with, but I would go to another job.
 - O You never walked off at Coal Mountain?
 - A No.

(J.A. 206-07.) The fact that Mr. Varney never outright walked off the job site does not mean he did not refuse to operate unsafe equipment or refuse to work in conditions he recognized to be unsafe. Indeed, there are several undisputed examples of Mr. Varney refusing to do work because of safety concerns. (J.A. 96-97 (refusal to use truck leaking fuel); 101 ("Q What did he say to do in response when you refused to make that repair? A Well, he was angry when he walked off.").)

Second, Petitioners argue, "Varney was not an equipment operator, so he was never required to operate any unsafe equipment." (Pet'rs Br. at 6.) Petitioners again plainly misrepresents the record. It is undisputed that in his job as a welder at Coal Mountain, Mr. Varney operated various types of equipment, including welding equipment, trucks, and other machines he operated in order to repair them. More specifically, Mr. Varney testified he operated a truck and made safety complaints about the unsafe conditions presented by the truck. (J.A. 96-98.)

Third, Petitioners argue that Mr. Varney "never felt his job was in danger for bringing these [safety concerns] issues to his supervisor's attention." (Pet'rs Br. at 6.) It is true Mr. Varney believed he was a valued employee and was simply doing his job in raising the safety concerns. He did not foresee that he would be discharged for doing what he considered was his job. (J.A. 187-88.) This belief is not inconsistent with the theory asserted at trial that he was ultimately retaliatorily discharged for refusing to do unsafe work and making safety complaints.

These three mischaracterizations of the trial testimony are the sole basis for Petitioners' argument that there was no evidence Mr. Varney was discharged in contravention of "any public policy" (Pet'rs Br. at 9.) Petitioners' argument is refuted by the undisputed testimony and overwhelming credible evidence that Mr. Varney made complaints about safety hazards at Coal Mountain, refused to operate unsafe equipment, and refused to perform work he believed would create unsafe conditions at the mine in furtherance of West Virginia's clear and unequivocal public policy of encouraging miners to refuse to operate unsafe equipment and to refuse to perform work they

The Court recently analyzed in *Nutter* what it means under *Harless* for a Defendant's adverse employment action to jeopardize a clear public policy, finding that such jeopardy requires:

- a. An elaboration on how the employer's conduct jeopardized the public policy;
- b. Establishing a nexus between the public policy and the employee's discharge; and
- c. A showing that the discharge violated the relevant public policy.

believe to be unsafe.

Nutter, 238 W. Va. at 386, 795 S.E.2d at 541. The evidence presented at trial established Petitioners' conduct jeopardized the public policy and there was a nexus between the safety complaints and the discharge. The jury could have reasonably concluded Mr. Varney's refusal to perform unsafe work caused his employers to experience an inconvenience and operational

inefficiency. (J.A. 96-97 ("Every time I asked him [for an air compressor], he was out of budget money.").)

Moreover, Mr. Varney's safety complaints and refusals to operate unsafe equipment were well known among the workforce. As a result, his discharge jeopardized and violated the policy of protection mine safety complainants from retaliation because the firing conveyed a chilling effect on future mine safety complaints among the workforce. Co-worker Cody Dove testified he knew about Varney's safety complaints and knew his employers attempted to discharge Mr. Varney shortly thereafter for reasons that would have violated the UMWA contract. (J.A. 293, 297-99.) A reasonable inference from this testimony is, if you complain about safety on Coal Mountain, the employers would find a way to fire you. Mr. Dove testified as follows:

- A. ... They didn't give him no options of trying to keep his job, and he had never been wrote up, never missed work or anything. He was always 30 minutes or better for work early.
- Q Why do you think they didn't give him any options?
- A Because he was bringing attention to safety matters on the job.

(J.A. 299.)

Because there exists sufficient factual support for the jury's verdict, Petitioners were not entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not err in denying Petitioners Rule 50 motions.

D. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Refusing to Grant Petitioners a New Trial Because the Jury Could Have Reasonably Concluded the Employers' Stated Basis for Discharging Mr. Varney was Transparently Pretextual and Fabricated.

Petitioners argue they are entitled to a new trial because the "clear weight of the evidence proved . . . that Varney would have been discharged . . . because he violated the attendance policy" (Pet'rs Br. at 10-11.) Petitioners' argument for new trial plainly ignores the standard for setting aside a jury's verdict:

In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support a jury verdict the court should: (1) consider the evidence most favorable to the prevailing party; (2) assume that all conflicts in the evidence were resolved by the jury in favor of the prevailing party; (3) assume as proved all facts which the prevailing party's evidence tends to prove; and (4) give to the prevailing party the benefit of all favorable inferences which reasonably may be drawn from the facts proved.

Syl. Pt. 7, *Grimmett*, 238 W. Va. at 54, 792 S.E.2d at 67. Petitioners maintained this defense – namely that Mr. Varney's discharge was due to a violation of the employers' attendance policy – from the moment they discharged him up and through trial. However, when the Circuit Court considered the evidence most favorably to Mr. Varney, resolved any conflicts in the evidence in Mr. Varney's favor, assumed all the facts presented by Mr. Varney as true, and provided Mr. Varney the benefit of all favorable inferences, it was clear the jury's verdict was supported by the evidence, rather than against the clear weight of it. The conflict between Mr. Varney's evidence that he was discharged in retaliation for his safety complaints and the employers' position that he was fired for a non-retaliatory reason is purely a jury question:

"We have consistently held that the function of the jury is to weigh the evidence with which it is presented and to arrive at a conclusion regarding damages and liability." *Shiel v. Ryu*, 203 W. Va. 40, 46, 506 S.E.2d 77, 83 (1998). Indeed, a firmly-established principle of our jurisprudence is: "Where, in the trial of an action at law before a jury, the evidence is conflicting, it is the province of the jury to resolve the conflict, and its verdict thereon will not be disturbed unless believed to be plainly wrong." Syl. Pt. 2, *French v. Sinkford*, 132 W. Va. 66, 54 S.E.2d 38 (1948). Elaborating further in syllabus point two of *Skeen v. C and G Corp.*, 155 W. Va. 547, 185 S.E.2d 493 (1971), this Court stated: "[i]t is the peculiar and exclusive province of a jury to weigh the evidence and to resolve questions of fact when the testimony of witnesses regarding them is conflicting and the finding of the jury upon such facts will not ordinarily be disturbed."

Grimmett, 238 W. Va. 54, 60, 792 S.E.2d 65, 71 (2016).

The jury evidently resolved the dispute whether the employers were justified under the UMWA contract or otherwise against the employers. There is substantial evidence upon which the jury could have arrived at this conclusion. First, the Separation Notice indicated Mr. Varney

missed three days; however, this was undisputedly untrue because Mr. Varney's employer called instructed Mr. Varney and told him to return home and come back to the job site when his superintendent would be there. (J.A. 108.)

Second, the evidence tended to show, and the jury ultimately agreed, that the employers fabricated their stated reason for the discharge by wrongfully eliminating Mr. Varney's personal days from his payroll records. Testimony at trial established Mr. Varney's employers attempted to create the false impression that Mr. Varney missed work without having adequate personal days to cover it, thus supporting his employers' pretextual basis for discharging him.

- Q Can you read that and on to the following page, Mr. Varney?
- A Okay, yes. Leslie called and asked if we could pull back this week's direct deposit for Ricky Varney on Justice Highwall. We processed ... first thing this morning by 9:00 a.m., so I think the ACH has been put through.

Okay. They want to remove two personal days from the check and process WO per Leslie. Okay, he has missed a few days of work, and they want to dismiss him, but because if he has personal days on his check, then it's question mark.

- Q Does it say but cannot if he has personal days on his check?
- A Right, but cannot if he has personal days on his check.

. . .

- Q What do you know about what that individual did in response to this email?
- A Well, by pulling the days then they could say I didn't get paid for it, and that would be grounds because if you miss a day and they take a personal day for it, that can't be counted against you.

(J. A. at 121-122.)

It was undisputed that Mr. Varney's final paycheck did not include pay for his accrued personal days when he missed work on this occasion. (J.A. 127.) Indeed, the employers' corporate representative admitted at trial that Mr. Varney did have two personal days available to him but that the company did not pay him those days to cover his absence on January 6th and 7th. (J.A. 513-14 (testimony of Pat Graham, Senior Vice President of Human Resources).)

That the jury did not buy the employers' transparently pretextual reason for Mr. Varney's discharge does not entitle them to a new trial. To be sure, the clear weight of the evidence supported the jury's verdict. Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not err when it denied Petitioners' Rule 59 motion.

E. Petitioners Were Not Prejudiced By the Admission of Improper Hearsay.

Petitioners make the perplexing argument they were prejudiced by hearsay evidence the Circuit Court excluded from evidence. In discovery, Mr. Varney obtained an email conversation between the employers' agent responsible for payroll, Leslie Wells, and the employers' third-party contractor responsible for processing payroll. The email detailed instructions from the employers to the third-party contractor to eliminate Mr. Varney's accrued personal days. Understandably, the parties fought hard about the admissibility of this evidence. However, ultimately, the Circuit Court ruled that the email was not admissible. In addition, because the email was excluded, the Circuit Court ultimately concluded Mr. Varney failed to establish an entitlement to punitive damages. Finally, the Petitioners never requested a limiting instruction regarding the excluded hearsay evidence. Nevertheless, Petitioners now say they are entitled to a new trial because the excluded hearsay evidence unfairly prejudiced them.

There is no merit to this ground for new trial. The Circuit Court properly instructed the jury on the evidence they should consider, and the Petitioners did not object to the instructions as insufficient in this respect. (J.A. 633.) Mr. Varney was never permitted to introduce the statements the circuit Court ruled were inadmissible. However, Mr. Varney was able to testify as to his personal knowledge about his personal days having been removed from his final paycheck, and the employers' witnesses were cross-examined as to their personal knowledge about whether Mr. Varney's personal days were omitted from his final paycheck. Petitioners fail to identify any

hearsay evidence presented to the jury. Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not err by denying the employers' Rule 59 motion.

F. Petitioners Waived Their Right to Appeal the Award of Attorney's Fees.

The Circuit Court entered an Order on January 10, 2022, awarding Mr. Varney his attorney's fees and costs. (J.A. 667-69.) The Petitioners failed to move to alter or amend the Order within ten days. *See* W. Va. R. Civ. P. 52(b); 59(e). Petitioners also failed to appeal timely the Order, and the Order became final on February 10, 2022. *See* W. Va. R. App. Proc. 5(b). Accordingly, any objection Petitioners make to the award of attorney's fees is waived. Further, the jury verdict awarding attorney's fees was purely an advisory opinion, which was considered by the Court when it entered its Order awarding attorney's fees. (J.A. 667 ("The court concludes it is appropriate to award reasonable attorney's fees in this matter based upon the verdict of the jury.").) Accordingly, any objection Petitioners assert to the jury instruction was at best harmless error.

Despite having waived this ground for appeal, Petitioners' fifth assignment of error nonetheless argues a clear and convincing standard applies to the jury's determination of attorney's fees. This is not an accurate statement of law.

The Court gave the following instruction as to fees:

PLAINTIFF'S JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 8

ATTORNEY'S FEES

The jury may assess reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred by Plaintiff Rick Varney against the Defendants if you find the Defendants acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons. Bad faith may be found in conduct leading to the litigation or in conduct in connection with the litigation.

__X_ Given ___ Refused (J.A. 651.) The jury ultimately concluded that Mr. Varney was entitled to his reasonable attorney's fees and costs. (J.A. 662-63.)

There is authority in equity to award to the prevailing litigant his or her reasonable attorney's fees as "costs," without express statutory authorization, when the losing party has acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly or for oppressive reasons. Hechler v. Casey, 175 W. Va. 434, 450, 333 S.E.2d 799, 815 (1985); Daily Gazette Co. v. Canady, 175 W. Va. 249, 250, 332 S.E.2d 262, 263–64 (1985); Nelson v. [W. Va. Pub. Emp. Ins. Bd.], 171 W. Va. 445, 451, 300 S.E.2d 86, 92 (1982); Alyeska Pipeline Service Co. v. Wilderness Society, 421 U.S. 240, 258–59, 95 S.Ct. 1612, 1622, 44 L.Ed.2d 141, 154 (1975). See also 1 S. Speiser, Attorneys' Fees § 12:11 (1973); annot., 31 A.L.R.Fed. 833 (1977). "Bad faith" may be found in conduct leading to the litigation or in conduct in connection with the litigation. Hall v. Cole, 412 U.S. 1, 15, 93 S.Ct. 1943, 1951, 36 L.Ed.2d 702, 713 (1973).

Sally-Mike Properties v. Yokum, 179 W. Va. 48, 51, 365 S.E.2d 246, 249 (1986). As the Petitioner correctly notes, the decision to award attorney's fees is reserved to the sound discretion of the Circuit court – not the jury.

We also accord substantial deference to a circuit court's decision about whether to award attorney fees. We have emphasized, and we now hold, that "[t]he decision to award or not to award attorney's fees rests in the sound discretion of the circuit court, and the exercise of that discretion will not be disturbed on appeal except in cases of abuse."

Harlow v. E. Elec., LLC, 245 W. Va. 188, 198, 858 S.E.2d 445, 455 (2021) (citation omitted). Because the Circuit court entered the award of attorney's fees, any instruction to the jury was harmless error. In any event, Petitioner cannot cite to any authority that requires a showing by clear and convincing evidence to support an award of attorney's fees. The clear and convincing standard is a fact-finder standard of proof and inapplicable to a court awarding attorney's fees consistent with its inherent equitable powers. See Sally-Mike Properties, 179 W. Va. at 51, 365 S.E.2d at 249.

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